ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,460

DCA NO. 97-2805

ERIC WEISS,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1960

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 2 1998

Chief Deputy Clerk

END COURT

CLERK R

By_

LISA WALSH Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 964610

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

This is the Petitioner's brief on jurisdiction requesting that this Court grant discretionary review based on an express and direct conflict between the district court decision below and decisions of this Supreme Court or other district courts of appeal on the same question of law. Petitioner, Eric Weiss, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal; the Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal. The parties are referred to in this brief as Petitioner and Respondent. References to the appendix to this brief are marked "A."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Eric Weiss was convicted following a jury trial. (A. 1). The trial judge imposed an upward departure sentence upon the Petitioner. (A. 3). Ten days later, the trial judge filed written reasons in support of the departure sentence. (A. 3). Petitioner argued before the Third District Court of Appeal that because the departure was more than 7 days from the date of pronouncement of sentence, the sentence should be reversed and the petitioner/ defendant should be sentenced within the guidelines. (A. 4).

The Third District Court of Appeal disagreed and affirmed in *Weiss v.* State, _____ So. 2d ___, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2380 (Fla. 3d DCA October 21, 1998).

The court determined that no error occurred because the requirement that written reasons justifying departure from the sentencing guidelines be filed "within 7 days after the date of sentencing" means that written reasons must be filed within 7 days from the date sentence is rendered, rather than 7 days from the date on which sentence is pronounced. (A. 4-5). Moreover, even if an error occurred, the Appellate Reform Act requires a demonstration of prejudice or harm and the "meaningless procedural hiccup involved could constitute no more than non-prejudicial, harmless error" and therefore did not warrant reversal. (A. 6).

Petitioner filed a timely petition to invoke the discretion of

QUESTION PRESENTED

THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN Ree v. State, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), State v. Colbert, 660 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1995), AND State v. Lyles, 576 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1991), AS WELL AS DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Weiss v. State, ______So. 2d ___, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2380 (Fla. 3d DCA October 21, 1998) is in conflict with decisions of this Court and other District Courts of Appeal. First, the court in Weiss held that failure to file written reasons within 7 days from the date sentence is pronounced is a meaningless procedural error and therefore does not warrant reversal. The court declared in a footnote that the Appellate Reform Act expressly overrules this Court's opinion in Ree v. State, 565 So. 2d 1329, 1332 (Fla. 1990). Conflict with Ree is therefore expressed on the face of the opinion. The court's pronouncement in Weiss that violation of the rule in Ree is harmless error and therefore does not warrant reversal also conflicts with this Court's decisions in State v. Colbert, 660 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1995), as well decisions of other district courts.

Second, the court's interpretation of the word "sentencing" in Section 921.0016(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1995) to mean time of rendition rather than pronouncement, for the purposes of defining when the 7 day period begins is in direct contravention to this

Court's holding in *State v. Lyles*, 576 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1991), this Court's decision in *State v. Colbert*, 660 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1995), and decisions of other district courts of appeal.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN Ree v. State, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), State v. Colbert, 660 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1995), AND State v. Lyles, 576 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1991), AS WELL AS DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS.

In State v. Colbert, 660 So. 2d 701, 702 (Fla. 1995), this Court reiterated its holding in Ree v. State, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), that if a trial judge departs upward from the sentencing guidelines, the court must file contemporaneous written reasons at the time of sentencing, for the reason that if not promptly filed, a decision to appeal might have to be made without the benefit of those reasons.

The legislature later extended the time in which a trial judge must file accompanying written reasons to 15 days, and later restricted this period to 7 days. *See* § 921.0016(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1997); Ch. 95-184, § 6, at 1344, Laws of Florida (1995). *See also* Rule 3.702(d)(18)(A), Fla. R. Crim. P. (1994); Rule 3.703(d)(29)(A), Fla. R. Crim. P. (1995).

In Weiss v. State, ______So. 2d ____, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2380 (Fla. 3d DCA October 21, 1998), the Third District Court of Appeal concluded that no reversal is warranted where a trial judge fails to file written reasons within 7 days from the date on which sentence is pronounced because such an error is non-prejudicial. The court additionally interpreted Section 921.0016, Florida Statutes (1997) to require that written reasons be filed within 7 days form the date the sentence is **rendered** rather than 7 days from the date the sentence. Weiss conflicts with this Court's

decisions and decisions in other district courts.

First, the pronouncement in *Weiss* that this sentencing error is a "meaningless procedural hiccup" undeserving of reversal absent demonstration of prejudice conflicts with this Court's decisions as well as decisions out of the district courts. The court noted in *Weiss* that "it is clear" that the passage of the appellate reform act, section 924.051, Florida Statutes (1996), "was meant to and did overrule such cases as" *Ree v. State*, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990). (A. 6 at n.4). On its face, therefore, the opinion in *Weiss* is in conflict with this Court's opinion in *Ree*.

A requirement that the appellant demonstrate prejudice before deserving reversal where a trial court departs upward yet fails to timely file its written reasons is also in conflict with this Court's opinions in State v. Colbert, 660 So. 2d 701, 702 (Fla. 1995), Pope v. State, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990) (holding that proper action when trial court fails to file written reasons is reversal, remand, and re-sentencing within the guidelines); Donaldson v. 23 Fla. L. Weekly S245 (Fla. April 30, 88205, State, No. 1998) ("Where the trial judge fails to provide written reasons for the departure sentence, the Appellate court must reverse with instructions to resentence the defendant in accordance with the sentencing guidelines without possibility of departure."), citing Owens v. State, 598 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1992); Blair v. State, 598 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 1992) (same). This Court has consistently reversed, remanded and ordered re-sentencing within the guidelines where a trial court fails to timely file written reasons in support of an upward departure. No decision from this Court reviewing this error

has required a showing of prejudice by the defendant.

Weiss is also in conflict with decisions from the district courts of appeal. In Evans v. State, 696 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), the court held that failure of a trial court to timely file written reasons required reversal and re-sentencing within the guidelines. The court reversed, even though the lateness was apparently attributable to a clerical error, because "courts have consistently strictly construed the requirement that written reasons supporting departures be timely filed." *Id.* at 368. There was no clerical error in *Weiss*. The trial judge's order was prepared 9 days after sentence was pronounced. (A. 3). *Weiss* is also in conflict with decisions in *Hooks v. State*, 656 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), *Wright v. State*, 617 So. 2d 837, 841 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), and *Wilcox v. State*, 664 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

Second, the court's conclusion in Weiss that no error occurred because a trial court must file its written reasons justifying departure within 7 days from the **date sentence is rendered**, **not from the date sentence is pronounced**, is in conflict with this Court's decision in *State v. Lyles*, 576 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1991) as well as decisions out of other district courts.¹ The Third District relied

¹ In its decision issued just prior to Weiss in Pierre v. State, 708 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), the court had a contrasting interpretation of the statute. The court stated in Pierre that "[a]lthough the trial judge **announced at sentencing** that she was imposing an upward departure sentence because of subsequent crimes, ... she did not file written reasons in support of the departure **within seven days thereafter** as required by section 921.0016(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1997)." 708 So. 2d at 1037. (emphasis added). The Court in Weiss tried to reconcile this conflict by explaining that Pierre was not governed by the

upon this Court's opinion in *Lyles* for its conclusion that if a trial judge files written reasons within 7 days from the date sentence is **rendered** or filed with the clerk, then the judge has complied with the rule. (A. 4-5).

What the court ignored about Lyles, however, and what places its opinion in Weiss in clear conflict with Lyles is that this Court required in Lyles that the written reasons in support of departure be prepared and entered with the clerk the same day sentence is pronounced. Id. at 708. This Court clearly explained in Lyles that "[w]ritten reasons must be issued on the same day as sentencing" and "we modify [the trial judge's] options to allow the trial judge the leeway to reduce to writing, immediately after the hearing, the reasons orally stated to the defendant in open court. It is important that these written reasons are entered on the same date This Court made it as the sentencing." Id. (emphasis added). abundantly clear in Lyles that "sentencing" means pronouncement and The only modification of Ree in Lyles was that the not rendition. ministerial act of filing with the clerk may be extended until the next business day. Id. at 708. The trial judge in Weiss did not enter written reasons 7 days after sentence was pronounced and file The trial judge's order is in the them the next business day. opinion in its entirety and was entered 9 days after sentence was

Reform Act (although in *Pierre*, the court cites to the 1997 enactment of Florida Statutes, and the passage of the Reform Act did nothing to change how the word "sentencing" in section 921.0016, Florida Statutes should be interpreted). The court further receded from *Pierre* in *Weiss*. (A. 5).

pronounced and filed 10 days after sentence was pronounced. (A. 3).

The court's interpretation of time limits in Weiss is also in conflict with decisions out of the district courts. See *Wilcox v. State*, 664 So. 2d 55, 56 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) ("[The trial judge] failed to comply with the balance of the new rule that requires that a written articulation (in some form) of the reasons for departure be signed by the trial judge and placed in the record, within fifteen days after the sentencing hearing."); *Wright v. State*, 617 So. 2d 837, 840-41 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (explaining that under *Ree*, it is proper to file written reasons the next business day only if the reasons are prepared contemporaneously with the day of oral pronouncement, and may not be filed several days later).

There is no excuse on the face of the opinion in Weiss for the trial court's failure to abide by the time requirements in section 921.0016, Florida Statutes. It is apparent that this Court and the district courts have required that written reasons be filed within statutorily set time limits which begin when sentence is pronounced not when sentence is rendered. This Court and the district courts of appeal have repeatedly and consistently responded to this error by reversing and remanding with instructions to impose a guidelines sentence without possibility of departure. See Pope v. State, 561 So. 2d 554, 556 (Fla. 1990). Weiss is in conflict with the aforementioned decisions and this Court should therefore accept discretionary review jurisdiction based upon this conflict.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petitioner submits that conflict jurisdiction exists in this case and requests that this Court accept discretionary review jurisdiction based upon this conflict.