#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



DEC 24 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 94,460

ERIC WEISS,

Petitioner,

-vs-

## THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

# MICHAEL J. NEIMAND

Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0239437 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 fax 377-5655

ROBERTA G. MANDEL

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0435953

## INTRODUCTION

Respondent, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and Appellee in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District. Petitioner, ERIC WEISS, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The symbol "App." will refer to the opinion of the lower court contained in the appendix to Petitioner's brief on jurisdiction.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Defendant, Eric Weiss, was convicted following a jury trial. (A. 1). The trial court imposed a ten-year upward departure sentence upon the defendant due to the particularly brutal home invasion robbery which among other things, the defendant was found guilty of terrorizing a crippled man and a three-year-old child. (A. 2).

The trial judge announced the reasons for departure when the sentence was orally pronounced on August 19, 1997. The adjudication and sentence were filed with the clerk on August 26,

1997. For unknown reasons, however, the written basis for the departure sentence, which closely tracked those reasons stated at the hearing, was not filed until August 29, 1997. (A. 3).

On appeal, the defendant argued that because this date was ten, rather than seven days after the oral pronouncement, the departure was invalid and should be set aside under Florida Statute 921.0016(1)(c)(1995). (A. 4).

The Third District Court of Appeal concluded that "the date of sentencing" under Section 921.0016 must, in context, be read to mean, not the oral pronouncement of sentence, but rather the filing of the written sentencing order. (A. 4) The Court noted that in this case, no appeal from the sentence could be taken until the written order was filed with the clerk on August 26, 1997. The Court, therefore, concluded that August 26, 1997 was the decisive date under the statute. The Third District Court held that because the written reasons for departure were filed only three days after that, there was no violation of section 921.0016(1)(c). (A. 5)

The defendant filed a petition to invoke the discretion of this Court, and has since filed his brief on jurisdiction. The State's jurisdictional brief now follows:

#### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE LOWER COURT CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL?

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the lower court does not conflict with the decision of this Court and other district courts of appeal. The "date of sentencing" under Florida Statute 921.0016 must, in context, be read to mean, not the oral pronouncement of sentence, but rather the filing of the written sentencing order. This conclusion, is in fact, dictated by the decision in <a href="State\_v.">State\_v.</a>
Lyles, 576 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1991), one of the decisions relied upon by the defendant to establish conflict jurisdiction.

The cases relied upon by the defendant were not governed by the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996. As such, those cases are not applicable to the case at hand. The Legislature enacted Section 924.051(3) Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), which provides, "A judgment or sentence may be reversed on appeal only when an appellate court determines after a review of the complete record that prejudicial error occurred and was properly preserved in the trial court, or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error." In the instant case, the issue of the late filing of departure reasons was never raised in the trial court. The alleged error did not amount to prejudicial error since it

did not harmfully affect the judgment or sentence. The written reasons for departure, which were filed only three days after the written order was filed with the clerk, was a verbatim typed order containing the oral reasons which were pronounced by the trial judge.

#### ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR OTHER DISTRICT COURTS.

The Defendant asserts that the lower court's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in Ree v. State, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990), State v. Colbert, 660 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1995) and State v. Lyles, 576 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1991). However, none of these cases presents an express and direct conflict on which this Court can assert jurisdiction. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

Committee notes to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030 reflect the fact that section 3(b)(3) of Article V of the Constitution of the State of Florida was amended in 1980 and that the Appellate Rules were subsequently revised to reflect the constitutional modifications in the Supreme Court's jurisdiction. The impetus for the modifications was a burgeoning caseload and the attendant need to make more efficient use of limited appellate resources. Consistent with this purpose, revised subdivision (a) of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030

limits the Supreme Court's appellate, discretionary and original jurisdiction to cases that substantially affect the law of the State. The pertinent language of Section 3(b)(3) of Article V of the Constitution of the State of Florida, provides that this Court "may review any decision of a district court of appeal...that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." The dictionary definitions of the term "express" include: "to represent in words"; to give expression to." "Expressly" is defined: "in an express manner." Webster's Third New International Dictionary, (1961 ed. unabr.). In the instant case, the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law.

Initially, the Third District Court of Appeal, concluded that "the date of sentencing" under Florida Statute 921.0016 must be read to mean, not the oral pronouncement of sentence, but rather the filing of the written sentencing order. (A. 4). The Court noted that that conclusion was dictated by the decision in State v. Lyles, which holds that written reasons filed the day after an oral pronouncement complied with the then-existing requirement that the reasons be filed contemporaneously with the sentence. This was in part so, because, this Court in State v.

<u>Lyles</u>, said the very reason for the rule, as stated in <u>Ree v.</u>

<u>State</u>, <u>supra</u>, was that:

If a sentence is entered and filed with the clerk on the day of sentencing, but the written reasons are delayed in being prepared and consequently are not filed on the same date, the decision to appeal may have to be made without benefit of those written reasons because the time for appeal begins to run from the date the sentencing judgment is filed, not the written reasons.

Lyles, 576 So. 2d at 708 (emphasis added).

The State would respectfully submit that this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction in this matter. See Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986) (conflict must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. There is no such conflict in the instant case.

In <u>State v. Lyles</u>, for instance, this Court ruled that the then-existing requirement of law had been satisfied "when express oral findings of fact and articulated reasons for the departure are made from the bench and then reduced to writing without substantive change on the same date...The ministerial act of filing the written reasons with the clerk on the next business day does not, in our view prejudice the defendant in any respect." <u>Id.</u> at 708-709. The decision in <u>Lyles</u>, therefore, holds that a nonprejudicial clerical snafu should not be the basis for reversal of a departure order. The Third District held that the decision in <u>State v. Lyles</u>, dictated the decision in the

instant case. Clearly, there is no conflict with the decision in State v. Lyles, or any of the other cases relied upon by the defendant, in support of his petition for discretionary review.

Furthermore, in the instant case, the Third District relied upon the Criminal Appeal Reform Act as the basis for the decision. The Third District Court of Appeal, in fact, noted that the case was governed by the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996, section 924.051, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996). (App. 5). As such, even if, arguendo, a technical error did occur, it may not be made the basis of reversal under the operative provisions of the Act. See Jordan v. State, --- So. 2d --, (Fla. 3d DCA Case no. 97-2002, opinion filed, September 16, 1998) [23 FLW D2130, D2132-The Third District Court of Appeal properly concluded that as was the situation in dealing with a similar claim of error in Jordan v. State, the arguably late filing of departure reasons was not cognizable on appeal, because it was not raised below, and because, even if it were, the meaningless procedural hiccup involved could constitute no more than non-prejudicial, harmless error. The Third District thereafter, concluded that the Reform Act rendered the general harmless error statute, unequivocally applicable to alleged sentencing miscues. The Third District contended that the legislature in enacting the Reform Act expressly precluded the courts from setting aside an otherwise

appropriate sentence just because a piece of paper was filed immaterially late. (A. 6).

The cases relied upon by the defendant, were not governed by the Reform Act, as such there is no express and direct conflict. The Third District noted that the Legislature said in the Reform Act that a judgment or sentence cannot be reversed on appeal unless there has been a prejudicial error, that is, "an error in the trial court that harmfully affected the judgment or sentence." Section 924.051(1)(a)(3), Fla. Statute (Supp. 1996).

The Third District, properly receded from cases such as <a href="Pierre v. State">Pierre v. State</a>, 708 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) as that case was not governed by the Reform Act. (A. 5). In <a href="Pierre">Pierre</a>, the Third District had relied upon earlier decisions such as <a href="State v. Colbert">State v.</a>. <a href="Colbert">Colbert</a>, 660 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1995), in holding that the seven day period runs from the announcement of an upward departure at sentencing. The Third District's, recession from earlier decisions, does not establish direct and express conflict.

The defendant notes that the Third District noted in the instant case, that the passage of the Act was intended to overrule such cases such as Ree v. State, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990). (See Appellant's brief page 6). The defendant concludes, that, therefore, the opinion in Weiss is in conflict with this Court's opinion in Ree. The State does not agree with this contention. The intent of the Legislature in passing the Act was

the conservation of judicial resources. See, Davis v. State, 705 So. 2d 133 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). (Legislature intended in enacting Criminal Appeal Reform Act, that terms and conditions of collateral review and procedural bars to collateral review would be strictly enforced). A finding of conflict in the instant case, would clearly contravene the very intention of the Act. In any regard, even if the enactment of the Act overruled cases decided before the Act, that in of itself does not establish express and direct conflict which is a prerequisite to Supreme Court review.

### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the preceding authorities and arguments, Respondent respectfully requests that the Court deny jurisdiction to review this cause.